
AGENDA

STANDARDS COMMITTEE MEETING
Date: Tuesday, 17 November 2020
Time: 7.00pm
Venue: Virtual Meeting Via Skype*

Membership:

Councillors Lloyd Bowen, Steve Davey, Nicholas Hampshire, James Hunt, Ken Ingleton, 
Elliott Jayes, Hannah Perkin (Vice-Chairman), Ken Rowles, Julian Saunders (Chairman), 
Bill Tatton and Tim Valentine.

Quorum = 3 

Independent Persons (non-voting): Patricia Richards and Christopher Webb.

Kent Association of Local Councils representative (non-voting): Graham Addicott OBE.

Pages
Information for the Public
*Members of the press and public can listen to this meeting live. Details of how 
to join the meeting will be added to the website after 4pm on Monday 16 
November 2020. 

Privacy Statement

Swale Borough Council (SBC) is committed to protecting the privacy and 
security of your personal information. As data controller we ensure that 
processing is carried out in accordance with the Data Protection Act 2018 
and the General Data Protection Regulations. In calling to join the meeting 
your telephone number may be viewed solely by those Members and 
Officers in attendance at the Skype meeting and will not be shared further. 
No other identifying information will be made available through your 
joining to the meeting. In joining the meeting you are providing the 
Council with your consent to process your telephone number for the 
duration of the meeting. Your telephone number will not be retained after 
the meeting is finished.

If you have any concerns or questions about how we look after your
personal information or your rights as an individual under the
Regulations, please contact the Data Protection Officer by email at
dataprotectionofficer@swale.gov.uk or by calling 01795 417179.

1. Apologies for Absence and Confirmation of Substitutes

Public Document Pack



2. Minutes

To approve the Minutes of the Meeting held on 16 January 2020 (Minute 
Nos. 457 - 462) as a correct record.

3. Declarations of Interest

Councillors should not act or take decisions in order to gain financial or 
other material benefits for  themselves or their spouse, civil partner or 
person with whom they are living with as a spouse or civil partner.  They 
must declare and resolve any interests and relationships.

The Chairman will ask Members if they have any interests to declare in 
respect of items on this agenda, under the following headings:

(a) Disclosable Pecuniary Interests (DPI) under the Localism Act 
2011.  The nature as well as the existence of any such interest must be 
declared.  After declaring a DPI, the Member must leave the meeting and 
not take part in the discussion or vote.  This applies even if there is 
provision for public speaking.

(b) Disclosable Non Pecuniary (DNPI) under the Code of Conduct 
adopted by the Council in May 2012.  The nature as well as the existence 
of any such interest must be declared.  After declaring a DNPI interest, 
the Member may stay, speak and vote on the matter.

(c) Where it is possible that a fair-minded and informed observer, 
having considered the facts would conclude that there was a real 
possibility that the Member might be predetermined or biased the 
Member should declare their predetermination or bias and then leave the 
meeting while that item is considered.

Advice to Members:  If any Councillor has any doubt about the 
existence or nature of any DPI or DNPI which he/she may have in any 
item on this agenda, he/she should seek advice from the Monitoring 
Officer, the Head of Legal or from other Solicitors in Legal Services as 
early as possible, and in advance of the Meeting.

Part B Reports for Decision by the Standards Committee

4. Annual Monitoring Officer Report 5 - 26

5. Annual Report on Member Training and Development 2019/20 27 - 30

https://services.swale.gov.uk/meetings/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=141&MId=2270&Ver=4


Issued on Monday, 9 November 2020

The reports included in Part I of this agenda can be made available 
in alternative formats. For further information about this service, or 
to arrange for special facilities to be provided at the meeting, please 
contact DEMOCRATIC SERVICES on 01795 417330. To find out 
more about the work of the Standards Committee, please visit 
www.swale.gov.uk

Chief Executive, Swale Borough Council,
Swale House, East Street, Sittingbourne, Kent, ME10 3HT



This page is intentionally left blank



Standards Committee
Meeting Date 17 November 2020

Report Title Annual Monitoring Officer Report

Cabinet Member Not applicable for this report

SMT Lead David Clifford, as monitoring officer

Head of Service Not applicable for this report

Lead Officer David Clifford, as monitoring officer

Key Decision No

Classification Open

Recommendations The report is for information only.

1 Introduction

1.1 This report provides an overview of the work of the monitoring officer during the 
period 1 November 2019 to 31 October 2020. It includes a summary of the main 
mechanisms in place at Swale to ensure sound governance and lawful decision-
making, together with an indication of how well these have operated during the 
period. It provides a summary of cases dealt with under the code of conduct, and 
finally offers a brief update to the standards committee on relevant developments 
in the wider legal and policy context over the course of the year.

1.2 This has been very difficult year for the council and its senior officers, as it has of 
course for the borough and its residents. The Covid-19 crisis has been a huge 
challenge, but one which the council has risen to meet, supporting both 
vulnerable residents (such as homeless people and people whose health 
conditions make them susceptible) and vulnerable businesses, as well as playing 
a leading role in the enforcement of new regulations. 

1.3 Following a period of sick leave, our highly respected chief executive and former 
monitoring officer Mark Radford sadly passed away in May, so this has been 
another year with SMT members jointly covering the role at the top of the officer 
hierarchy. A new chief executive has been appointed and will take up her post in 
January.

Page 5

Agenda Item 4



1.4 It has also been a busy year in terms of complaints against borough and parish 
councillors under the code of conduct, with 21 formal complaint cases1 and 42 
individual complaints dealt with in the year to 31 October. These complaints are 
reviewed in more detail in Section 5 of this report. 

2 The role of the monitoring officer

2.1 The Local Government and Housing Act 1989 requires local authorities to appoint 
a monitoring officer, giving that officer a broad role in ensuring the lawfulness of 
council decision-making and promoting good governance and high ethical 
standards. A summary of the monitoring officer’s functions is as follows:

Description Source

Report on contraventions or likely contraventions 
of any enactment or rule of law.

Local Government and 
Housing Act 1989

Report on any maladministration or injustice 
where the ombudsman has carried out an 
investigation.

Local Government and 
Housing Act 1989

Report on sufficiency of resources. Local Government and 
Housing Act 1989

Maintain the constitution. Council constitution

Provide advice to members on governance, 
probity, vires issues, and questions concerning 
the budget and policy frameworks.

Council constitution

Consult with, support and advise the chief 
executive and chief financial officer on issues of 
lawfulness and probity.

Council constitution

Advise on whether executive decisions fall within 
the budget and policy framework.

Council constitution

Establish, publish and maintain the register of 
members’ interests.

Localism Act 2011

Issue dispensations to members regarding 
disclosable pecuniary interests.

Localism Act 2011

Promote and maintain high standards of conduct. Localism Act 2011

1 By ‘complaint cases’ I refer to incidents or alleged incidents each giving rise to one or more complaints. 

Page 6



Description Source

Undertake the assessment of complaints that a 
member may have breached the code of conduct.

Localism Act 2011

Act as legal advisor to the standards committee 
when carrying out a local determination hearing.

Localism Act 2011

3 Maintenance and review of the constitution

3.1 The constitution sets out how the council operates, including most essentially 
how authority is gained, delegated and exercised, and how decisions are made. 
It describes the procedures which are followed to ensure that decision-making is 
lawful, reasonable and fair, and that those who make decisions are accountable 
to local people. It provides clarity on the respective roles of members and 
officers, as well as on the split between executive and non-executive matters.

3.2 The monitoring officer is the ‘guardian’ of the council’s constitution, and is 
responsible for ensuring that the constitution is properly maintained and is 
adhered to in practice.

3.3 One of the policy objectives of the coalition administration is to improve public 
engagement with council decision-making and to diffuse power more widely 
among elected members than is typically the case in a leader-and-cabinet 
governance model. This is likely to result in significant changes to the 
constitution over the next few years. 

3.4 The focus this year has been on area committees, which have the potential to 
further both elements of this objective. The four new area committees each had 
their inaugural meeting in September 2020, and will meet quarterly going 
forwards. Meetings include a public forum where local residents and parish 
councillors can raise issues of local concern. 

3.5 There remain a number of open questions with regard to area committees, 
primarily in terms of how parish councils can best be represented and what 
mechanisms need to be developed to help the committees agree and deliver a 
meaningful work programme without putting undue pressure on already 
stretched council resources. These questions will be informed by experience of 
the meetings over the next couple of cycles, and it is anticipated that the 
committees will have ‘bedded in’ more thoroughly by next year’s annual report. 

Page 7



3.6 The next major change expected to the council’s constitution is the development 
of multiple cabinet advisory committees, which are expected to replace PDRC 
as the main mechanism for enabling non-cabinet members to feed into 
executive decision-making from next municipal year. The details of this are still 
to be worked out, and a PDRC working group has been established to make 
relevant recommendations to cabinet. 

4 Lawful decision-making and good governance

4.1 The monitoring officer is the council’s lead adviser on questions of lawfulness and 
the scope of the council’s powers. In consultation with the chief executive and 
chief financial officer, I advise on compliance with the budget and policy 
framework. Part of this role involves monitoring reports, agendas and decisions to 
ensure compliance with legislation and the constitution. 

4.2 At the heart of this work is the agenda of, and reports and recommendations to, 
the cabinet. Cabinet reports and decisions are made publicly available for 
councillors either electronically or by way of a paper version. Cabinet decisions 
can also be viewed by members of the public through the council’s website.

4.3 The cabinet has met on nine occasions between 1 November 2019 and 31 
October 2020. In each case the strategic management team (SMT) has reviewed 
the agenda and associated draft reports. This clearance process is an important 
part of ensuring corporate working in an effective council, providing a vital 
opportunity to discuss aspects of reports or decisions that require ‘buy-in’ from, or 
have implications across, multiple services.

4.4 All heads of service receive draft agendas, and senior finance, HR and legal 
officers have the opportunity to comment on reports in the ‘Implications’ section. 
Items on the cabinet forward plan are added automatically onto the SMT forward 
plan, enabling SMT to seek advice from the head of legal, chief financial officer or 
head of human resources as necessary. This ensures a corporate approach is 
taken to reports being drafted, enabling a robust set of recommendations and 
alternative options to be presented to cabinet for consideration and decision.

4.5 In cases where I consider that any proposal, decision or omission by the council 
would result in a breach of any enactment or the rule of law, or if any decision or 
omission has been found by an ombudsman investigation to have given rise to 
maladministration, as monitoring officer I am under a personal statutory duty to 
make a report on the matter to members. Any proposal that is subject to such a 

Page 8



report cannot be implemented until the report has been considered. The sound 
governance processes operated by the council ensure that the obligation to report 
potentially unlawful decision-making rarely, if ever, arises at Swale. I issued no 
such reports during the year to 31 October 2020.

5 Ethical standards and the members’ code of conduct

5.1 While robust and well-understood constitutional processes and procedures are an 
essential component of good governance, the importance of high standards of 
ethical conduct on the part of the individuals involved in decision-making on 
behalf of their communities cannot be overstated.

National developments

5.2 In 2011, when the Localism Act abolished the centralised standards regime and 
replaced it with local responsibility for maintaining members’ ethical standards, 
government agreed to carry out a review of how the new system was working 
within five years of its launch. However, in spite of sporadic reminders from the 
committee on standards in public life (CSPL, also known as the Nolan 
committee), this review was never forthcoming, so in 2018 the committee 
commenced work on a review of its own.

5.3 The report and findings from this review were published in 2019, supported by a 
great deal of evidence provided in part by councils, their standards committees 
and their monitoring officers. The review found that the new system was working 
well for the most part, but still made a total of 26 recommendations for 
improvement. These were considered in some detail at the annual standards 
committee meeting in January. With one or two exceptions, the recommendations 
require legislation or other government action to implement, but there has to date 
been no indication that this legislation will be forthcoming. 

5.4 One of the exceptional recommendations was for the Local Government 
Association to produce a model code of conduct, with the expectation that this 
would eventually be adopted by most if not all local authorities. The LGA has 
made progress with this this year, and following input from standards committee 
members, Swale submitted a comprehensive response to a consultation on a 
draft model code during the summer. 

5.5 The draft model code more closely resembles the code in use across much of 
Kent than our own Swale code, and this is probably a positive development. 

Page 9



Swale’s response to the consultation was broadly favourable, with suggestions for 
improvement only on relatively minor points of detail. The LGA team responsible 
are due to take a further draft of the code, updated following the consultation, to 
their member board in December.

5.6 Two relatively minor recommendations in the CSPL report for local authorities 
were actioned in Swale during the year, covering indemnification for the 
independent persons appointed under s28 of the Localism Act, and the 
publication of the name and contact details of the council’s external auditor in its 
whistleblowing policy and on its website.

5.7 Previous versions of this annual report have generally included a summary of key 
legal cases, not just from the year in review but since the introduction of the 
localised standards regime. This is a useful opportunity to remind members of 
what case law on local government ethical standards has said, but given that the 
number of such cases is now fairly high, these are this year to be found in 
Appendix I.

Local developments

5.8 The council adopted its current code of conduct in 2012, along with revised 
arrangements for the standards committee and the registration and disclosure of 
interests and dispensations. These continue to work reasonably well, and overall 
it is fair to say that the council’s processes for complying with the standards 
provisions of the Localism Act continue to demonstrate their effectiveness 
notwithstanding widely-shared concerns over the lack of effective sanctions. 

5.9 The legally mandated registers of interests are available on the council’s website, 
and both borough councillors and parish clerks are now familiar with how these 
work. As highlighted by guidance issued by the Department for Communities and 
Local Government (as was) in 2013, the key requirement is that councillors 
should not act or take decisions in order to gain financial or other material 
benefits for themselves, their families or their friends, and the declaration and 
resolution of personal interests should be guided by this principle. 

5.10 The process for registering members’ interests was the subject of an internal 
audit review during the year, receiving a ‘sound’ assurance rating. A number of 
relatively minor recommendations have been actioned. 

5.11 At the last annual meeting of the standards committee in January, the committee 
agreed that members should be under an obligation to declare any gifts and 

Page 10



hospitality received with a value of £50 or more (or £100 worth of separate 
gifts/hospitality from a single source). The system for recording and publishing 
this information is now live on Modern.gov, and declaration forms are available 
from Sue Revell. A guidance note for members will be available shortly. It is worth 
highlighting that the draft LGA model code of conduct also requires members to 
declare gifts and hospitality, in this case above £25 in value.

Code of conduct cases 1 November 2019 to 31 October 2020

5.12 During the period covered by this report a total of 42 contacts were recorded as 
complaints (“complaints”), resulting from 21 separate incidents or alleged 
incidents (“complaint cases”). This is a 25 percent reduction in the number of 
complaint cases from last year, although last year (and indeed this year) were 
significant increases on previous years. The number of individual complaints is 
very slightly lower than last year. 

5.13 Of these figures,15 complaint cases related to a borough councillor and six to one 
or more parish councillors. Fourteen of the individual complaints were made by 
members of the public, while fully 28 came from fellow elected members. Even 
allowing for the fact that 19 of these complaints from members related to a single 
complaint case, this is a very high figure in relation to previous years.

5.14 Of the 21 complaint cases, two were considered by the monitoring officer and 
immediately rejected as failing at least one of the tests set out in the assessment 
criteria which are included in the constitution2. In three cases the councillor was 
determined not to have been acting in the capacity of a councillor at the time of 
the alleged conduct; s27 of the Localism Act makes it clear that codes of conduct 
cannot apply to such conduct. 

5.15 The monitoring officer conducted a preliminary investigation in seven cases and a 
more thorough investigation in two cases, and determined in all nine of these 
cases that the subject member had no case to answer. In three cases the 
monitoring officer or deputy monitoring officer determined that there was no public 
interest in pursuing the matter3 or that no further action was possible or 
necessary. One case was dropped by the complainant, and in two cases informal 

2 The tests in the assessment criteria are that the complaint is about a named member of a relevant 
council who was in office at the time of the alleged conduct and that the complaint if proven would 
constitute a breach of the code of conduct which was in force at that time.
3 The constitutional assessment criteria also set out guidelines on categories of complaint which will not 
be pursued, including anonymous, trivial, malicious, politically-motivated and tit-for-tat complaints.

Page 11



advice was given to the subject member by the monitoring officer in resolution of 
the complaint. One case opened during the period of this report is ongoing. 

5.16 The table below provides a summary of these outcomes.

Final outcome of complaint case No. 
Failed initial test in constitutional assessment criteria 2

Subject member not acting in capacity of councillor 3

No case to answer following investigation 9

No further action necessary/possible or no public interest in pursuing 3

Case dropped by complainant 1

Informal advice provided to subject member by monitoring officer 2

Ongoing case still open at time of report 1

5.17 Social media has once again been a source of rancour both between elected 
members and between elected members and the public over the course of this 
year. Often these issues do not evolve into formal complaints and will therefore 
not find their way into the figures, although six (29 percent) of the 21 complaint 
cases dealt with this year were the result of social media posts. 

5.18 Clearly social media is a fixture of the contemporary world and will inevitably be 
used by local politicians to communicate their messages. This is not generally a 
bad thing, and social media activity by local activists is often a helpful way of 
imparting important information to residents, with the Covid crisis an obvious case 
in point here.

5.19 It is also entirely legitimate, of course, for councillors and others to make political 
points on social media, but there is a broad grey area between points of policy 
difference and what are effectively ad-hominem attacks. While relevant case law 
guarantees extremely broad rights of free expression to politicians, members do 
need to exercise care and restraint in not stepping too far into that grey area, 
particularly when the ‘homines’ being attacked are members of the public rather 
than fellow councillors. 

5.20 An extremely tumultuous virtual council meeting during the summer of 2020 
resulted in three separate complaint cases totalling 24 individual complaints 
against a total of three borough councillors, all but two of them lodged by borough 
councillors. One of these complaint cases remains open, with the matter 

Page 12



expected to be resolved within the next month. It would not be appropriate to 
comment any further on this case in advance of that resolution.

5.21 The two independent persons appointed in 2017 under s28 of the Localism Act to 
give their views on complaint cases, Patricia Richards and Christopher Webb, 
have remained in their roles and are expected to do so until September 2021 
when their contracts expire. I had reason to consult one or both of the 
independent persons in four (19 percent) of the 21 complaint cases dealt with 
during the year. This has enabled me to be both challenged and supported in my 
thinking about cases, and is a facility which I continue to find to be extremely 
valuable.

Historic cases of interest

5.22 There are a number of cases dealt with by the Swale monitoring officer before 
November 2019 which remain of interest because they included more serious 
allegations than is typical and/or because they reached a further stage of 
investigation. These are summarised for information in Appendix II. 

6 Officers’ code of conduct 

6.1 The constitution includes a code for employees, which contains a requirement to 
register interests. Officers are reminded of this requirement on an annual basis. 
This registration process was subject to an internal audit review during the year, 
with a ‘weak’ assurance rating being reported to the audit committee in 
September. As a result of this, actions have been put in place to improve both the 
way in which information is collected and the way in which it can be consulted by 
those who need to be aware of it. 

7 Protocol on councillor/officer relations

7.1 The constitution includes a protocol on councillor/officer relations, setting out 
what is expected of officers and what of members. In the event of relationships 
between members and officers breaking down or becoming strained, the protocol 
first attempts to resolve matters informally by conciliation through the appropriate 
senior manager(s) and/or member(s).

7.2 Officers in these situations will have recourse to the council’s grievance 
procedure or to the monitoring officer, as appropriate to the circumstances (this is 
set out in the constitution, but see also the summary of R (Harvey) v Ledbury 

Page 13



Town Council (2018) in Appendix I). I am pleased to report that there have been 
no complaints of this type to the monitoring officer over the past year. 

8 Related party transactions

8.1 In accordance with the code of practice on local authority accounting in the 
United Kingdom 2019/20, councillors and senior officers (those above a certain 
salary grade and those appointed by statute) are requested on an annual basis 
to complete and sign a declaration on related party transactions.

8.2 The declaration captures transactions between the council on the one hand and 
the individual, members of the individual’s close family or household, or entities 
in which the individual or their close family or household has a controlling 
interest on the other. All declarations were satisfactorily completed and recorded 
by the end of June 2020 for the 2019/20 annual accounts.

9 Protected disclosures – the whistleblowing policy

9.1 The purpose of the council’s whistleblowing policy is to enable employees to feel 
confident in making disclosures about potential wrongdoing by individual(s) in a 
position of authority within the organisation. It provides a mechanism for raising 
concerns without fear of victimisation, discrimination, disadvantage or dismissal. 

9.2 Following agreement by the standards committee, a CSPL recommendation for 
local authorities to include the name and contact detail of the external auditor in 
their whistleblowing policies and on their websites was actioned during the year. 

10 Support to council, cabinet, scrutiny and committee meetings

10.1 Ensuring that meetings are run efficiently, transparently and lawfully is central 
to good governance. In practice, this includes:

 Advertising public meetings at least five clear days before the meeting date, 
and ensuring that agendas are published and distributed in a timely manner;

 Ensuring that agendas are compliant with regulations on access to 
information, and that exempt information is properly marked up;

 Ensuring that papers are available to the public either through the website or 
from district offices and libraries;

 Ensuring that meetings are accessible to the public;

Page 14



 Publishing minutes as soon as possible after the meeting, in particular 
ensuring that cabinet minutes are published within three working days of the 
meeting; and

 Ensuring that petitions are handled in accordance with the council’s 
constitution.

10.2 The restrictions on gatherings which came into effect in March caused the 
council to cancel or postpone planned meetings for a short while, but we 
quickly developed the means for formal meetings to be conducted virtually via 
skype, all in accordance with the regulations made under the Coronavirus Act 
2020. Swale was one of the first districts in Kent to hold a virtual council 
meeting and a virtual annual council meeting. 

10.3 Given the success of online meetings and the ongoing risks to individuals’ 
health from holding physical meetings, it is likely that the virtual approach will 
continue for the duration of the Covid crisis, regardless of changes to the 
regulations. The ability to participate in meetings from home has meant that 
we have seen a considerable increase in visiting members attending 
committees, as well as a more modest increase in attendance by members of 
the public. 

10.4 From 1 November 2019 to 30 October 2020 the following meetings were 
serviced by the democratic services team: 

Name of meeting Number 
servicedAnnual council 1

Audit committee 3
Cabinet 8
Cabinet delegated decisions 3
Council 5
General licensing committee 2
General purposes committee 5
Licensing sub-committee 4
Local plan panel 10
Member development working group 2
Planning committee 14*

Page 15



Name of meeting Number 
servicedPlanning working group 4**

Policy development and review committee 5
Scrutiny committee 7
Standards committee 1
Standards hearings subcommittee 0
Swale joint transportation board 3
Total 77

            *Includes two extraordinary planning committee meetings.

            **The four working group meetings cover a total of 8 site visits. 

11.5 These figures do not reflect the additional meetings administered by the 
democratic services team, including two external charities as well as pre-
meetings and agenda-planning meetings. The overall volume of meetings 
represents a substantial commitment of both members’ and officers’ time and 
resources, and it remains of great importance that meetings constitute an 
effective and productive use of these. It is worth emphasising that virtual 
meetings require the attendance of more democratic services officers than 
physical meetings, because of the risk of individuals’ broadband connections 
failing. 

12 Member training and development

12.1 It is essential to good governance that members are supported in their roles to 
make robust, transparent and well-informed decisions for the good of the 
borough and its communities. The council has established a cross-party 
member development working group (MDWG) with support from democratic 
services to oversee and develop the provision of appropriate training for 
members. Further information is provided in the annual report on member 
training and development which will be considered by the standards 
committee in tandem with this report. 

13 Use of covert surveillance

13.1 Since April 2010, in accordance with the relevant codes of practice, the 
monitoring officer has been obliged to report the number of occasions on 
which the authority has used covert surveillance. No applications for such 
surveillance were made during the year to 31 October 2020. 

Page 16



14 Comments and conclusions 

14.1 As stated at the beginning of this report, this has been a busy and challenging 
year in the life of the council. While the Covid crisis has rightly meant that 
resources have been diverted away from less urgent matters, the council’s 
core functions, including its democratic processes, have all continued to run 
effectively thanks to the dedication of officers at all levels of the organisation. 

14.2 The number of complaints against councillors under the code of conduct has 
been broadly stable in a year in which, given the restrictions on people 
undertaking activities in the community, it might have been expected that the 
number would decrease. 

14.3 This probably reflects the continuing rise in the number of complaint cases 
related to social media, and possibly suggests that in the absence of the Covid 
restrictions complaint levels would have been as high this year as they were 
the previous year, when the numbers were considered exceptional. This is 
particularly interesting in the context of such a high proportion of complaints 
being made by fellow councillors, and this is a phenomenon to which the 
monitoring officer will be paying close attention in the year ahead. 

15 List of appendices

15.1 The following appendices are to be published with this report and form part of the 
report:
Appendix I: Compendium of recent legal cases of interest
Appendix II: Historical cases of interest dealt with by the Swale monitoring officer

Page 17



Appendix I:
Compendium of recent legal cases of interest

R (Greenslade) v Devon County Council (2019)

Interaction between standards regime and grievance procedures 
Facts: The case was brought by a councillor who had been found to have breached 
the Devon code of conduct. Devon’s complaints procedure provided for anonymity of 
the complainants and did not allow for an oral hearing before the standards 
committee. 
Findings and decision: The court held that, when assessed overall, that procedure 
was not unfair: Cllr Greenslade had had the opportunity to answer the complaints in 
person before an independent QC, and to provide comments on his draft report, as 
well as being able to make written submissions to the Standards Committee. The 
context in which fairness was to be judged importantly comprised both the changes 
wrought by the Localism Act 2011 and the particular procedures adopted by the 
council, to which there had been no direct challenge. 

Comment: This case underlines the freedom allowed to local authorities under the 
Localism Act 2011 in regulating their own procedures for dealing with complaints 
against elected members. It is also noteworthy that Mrs Justice Andrews appeared to 
accept the council's argument that Article 6 ECHR does not apply to local 
government standards matters, which are essentially disciplinary in character.

R (Harvey) v Ledbury Town Council (2018)

Interaction between standards regime and grievance procedures 

Facts: Following complaints that Cllr H had bullied, intimidated and harassed staff, 
the town council’s grievance panel met to discuss the allegations. Cllr H did not 
attend, stating that she did not recognise the authority of the panel, and she 
requested that the matter be properly investigated under the standards procedure. 
The panel upheld the accusations, and the town council then resolved to impose a 
number of prohibitions on Cllr H, including that she should not sit on any committees, 
sub-committees, panels or working groups nor represent the council on any outside 
body, and that all communications between her and its clerk and deputy clerk should 
go through the mayor. Cllr H applied for judicial review of the town council’s decision 
to impose sanctions under its grievance procedures. 

Findings: The High Court considered local authority staff grievance procedures and 
their relationship with the code of conduct regime under the Localism Act 2011. The 
court held that a council cannot run a grievance procedure alongside, or as an 

Page 18



alternative to, a standards regime procedure, and that complaints regarding a 
councillor's conduct have to be dealt with under the authority’s standards 
arrangements.

Decision: The court granted the application, and ruled that the town council’s 
decision to continue and enlarge the prohibitions must be quashed and that Cllr H 
was entitled to declaratory relief. Mrs Justice Cockerill found that there was no 
general power to run a grievance procedure process in tandem with or as an 
alternative to the code-of-conduct process envisaged by the Localism Act, as that 
would be contrary to the intention of Parliament.

Comment: This case provides a useful analysis of the standards regime under the 
Localism Act 2011, making clear that it overrides the previous statutory procedures, 
as well as local authorities’ inherent powers under the 1972 Act. It also highlights that 
councils cannot try to obviate the 2011 Act’s lack of effective sanctions by dealing 
with complaints under their staff grievance procedures. The judgment provides a 
reminder that any process must be fair and in accordance with the principles of 
natural justice; however, notwithstanding this judgment, local authorities must 
continue to be mindful of their responsibilities to protect their employees from 
bullying, intimidation and harassment, since the authority may be liable for the 
actions of its councillors. The proper course for the investigation of alleged behaviour 
of this type by councillors is now under the code of conduct adopted under the 
Localism Act, and following investigation it is for the monitoring officer to discuss the 
outcome with the independent person(s), ensuring that any hearing or informal action 
is proportionate in all the circumstances of the case.

Hussain v Sandwell Metropolitan Borough Council (2017)

Councils’ and MOs’ powers to investigate alleged misconduct

Facts: The claimant was alleged to have procured the sale of council assets to family 
friends at a substantial undervalue. He was also alleged to have used his power and 
influence as a senior politician within the council to have parking tickets issued to his 
family expunged. The council’s audit committee conducted a ‘pre-formal 
investigation’ under the Local Government Act 1972 to determine whether the 
allegations had substance and if so to decide on next steps. Counsel was appointed 
and they advised that there was a serious case to be met and that the Localism Act 
processes for breach of the code of conduct should be initiated. The claimant 
challenged the power of the council to conduct both formal and informal 
investigations of alleged wrongdoing by councillors, arguing that the investigation 
was ultra vires since there was no power to investigate alleged misconduct before 
the Localism Act took effect and that the investigating officer had predetermined the 

Page 19



outcome and usurped the adjudicatory functions of the standards committee. The 
Court of Appeal granted leave for judicial review to stay the investigation.

Findings: The court’s view was that there is ample power under both the Local 
Government Act 1972 and the Localism Act 2011 to carry out pre-formal 
investigations, and that a council is entitled both to investigate in order to establish 
whether a prima facie case exists and to receive advice as to the appropriate next 
steps. In addition, it was found that the current standards framework could be used to 
investigate historic allegations and that the report of the independent person could 
not predetermine findings as the author of the report was not a decision-maker.

Decision: The court concluded that there was a powerful public interest in the 
allegations being fully and fairly investigated, and the stay in proceedings was 
therefore lifted.

Dedman v Information Commissioner’s Office (2016)

Limits of personal data exemptions in Freedom of Information Act

Facts: C, then chair of Hickling Parish Council, was quoted in a local newspaper as 
saying a local charity had shown no desire to negotiate a new constitution and “they 
don’t want to make changes to the constitution to protect the village asset and it’s 
very sad.” A resident then complained to North Norfolk’s monitoring officer that C had 
made factually inaccurate comments and deliberately misled readers, amounting to a 
breach or breaches of the councillors’ code of conduct. North Norfolk’s monitoring 
officer appointed an external solicitor to investigate the complaint. She submitted a 
draft final report for North Norfolk’s standards committee after C had ceased to be a 
councillor, having lost her seat in the election of May 2015. The monitoring officer 
decided that there was ‘no public benefit’ in taking the matter further because C was 
no longer a serving councillor. When another resident requested a copy of the draft 
report, North Norfolk refused, relying on s40(2) of the Freedom of Information Act, on 
the grounds that the draft contained personal data about C who no longer held a 
public position. The dispute then reached the Information Commissioner’s Office, 
which accepted C would have had a legitimate expectation that the details of the 
investigation would remain confidential. North Norfolk’s policy was that draft 
standards investigation reports were not shared with persons who were not parties to 
the complaint, and the prejudice to C’s interests outweighed any legitimate public 
interest in disclosure. The complainant then appealed to the Information Rights 
Tribunal.

Page 20



Findings: The Tribunal agreed that there was no doubt that the report contained the 
personal data of C and that there was no practical possibility of editing it so as to 
avoid the disclosure of such data. However, the tribunal added:
“There is plainly a strong public interest in the disclosure of findings as to the conduct 
of the chair of a parish council when performing her public duties. That is especially 
the case where a complaint has been made that she misled a newspaper and its 
readers, including her local parishioners, as to important matters relating to a 
controversial local issue. There is a danger that the withholding of a report may 
encourage the suspicion that its findings are adverse to the subject, whether or not 
that is, in fact, the case.”
The tribunal stated that such transparency is essential to the maintenance of proper 
standards in public life, whether or not the subject of the complaint remains in office 
and if this  were this not so “a delinquent public officer, faced with a draft report 
containing serious criticism of his/her conduct, could simply prevent disclosure by 
timely resignation”. In addition, there was a realistic possibility that C would again 
seek election to the parish council or another public authority in the future. 

Decision: The tribunal concluded that disclosure of the draft report was not unfair 
and North Norfolk was not entitled to rely on the s40(2) exemption.

Taylor v Honiton Town Council and East Devon District Council (2016)

Inability of parish councils to impose their own sanctions

Facts: Cllr Taylor published comments concerning a loan extension from the Public 
Loan Works Board and accusing the town clerk of illegality in connection with the 
loan and investment in a conspiracy to use the money for an improper purpose. East 
Devon District Council, as the principal authority, determined that Cllr Taylor had 
failed to treat the town clerk with respect and imposed sanctions, namely censuring 
Cllr Taylor, publishing its findings, and requiring Cllr Taylor to undergo training on the 
code of conduct. Honiton Town Council imposed the sanctions recommended by 
East Devon, however, they also applied additional measures until the training 
requirement had been fulfilled. Cllr Taylor challenged Honiton’s decision for illegality 
and procedural unfairness.

Findings: It was held that the Localism Act gives decision making power to the 
principal authority and requires it to have arrangements for the exercise of that power 
in place to investigate and determine any breach of parish council codes of conduct. 
It would therefore be a nonsense of that scheme if the parish council were able to 
take its own decisions without having those in place. The whole point of the scheme 
is to remove decision-making powers and duties from very small authorities which do 

Page 21



not have the resources to manage them effectively and who may be so small that 
any real independence is unattainable.

Decision: East Devon’s decision both as to breach and sanction was lawful, 
however the parish council cannot impose sanctions over and above those 
recommended by the principal authority.

R v Flower (2015)

Criminal implications of non-disclosure of a disclosable pecuniary interest

Facts: Cllr Flower listed as a pecuniary interest a non-executive directorship of a 
housing charity, for which he received remuneration payments. He was present at a 
meeting about the proposed East Dorset core strategy and voted at the meeting. The 
housing charity had responded to a consultation about the core strategy and owned 
land which was being considered for development through the strategy. Cllr Flower had 
previously attended a meeting of the charity at which the long-term future of the land 
had been considered. He was charged with an offence under the Localism Act 2011 for 
participating in a discussion and vote without reasonable excuse despite having a 
disclosable pecuniary interest (DPI) in a matter being considered.

Findings: Cllr Flower was guilty of the offence. His defence that the matters discussed 
at the meeting were of a broad nature and did not concern detailed issues of planning 
and ownership did not amount to ‘reasonable excuse’. It was not right that the core 
strategy had no relevance to pecuniary matters, and it was not a defence that he did 
not obtain any direct benefit from the vote. The judge held that it would have been 
reasonable for him to have consulted the monitoring officer and could have gained a 
dispensation. He was under a duty not to participate and vote. The judge noted that Cllr 
Flower was of good character and the court received a number of character references 
speaking highly of his abilities, his conscientiousness and his years of public service.

Decision: Conditional discharge for six months and an order to pay £930 in costs.

Commentary: The lack of any real sanction or appetite for prosecution in the Localism 
Act 2011 is evidenced by the fact that since its implementation this is thought to have 
been the only prosecution in relation to an elected member participating in a discussion 
and vote without reasonable excuse despite having a DPI.

Page 22



R (Benjamin Dennehy) v London Borough of Ealing (2013)

Social media, freedom of expression and the code of conduct

Facts: Cllr Dennehy posted on a blog which he maintained comments about 
residents of Southall in which he stated:
“It is a largely Indian community who say they deplore this behaviour but yet it is that 
very same community that harbours and exploits their own people in squalid third 
world living conditions… the exploding population of illegal immigrants is a constant 
on the public purse. Illegal immigrants don’t pay tax.  The legitimate immigrants 
exploiting them in the squalid bed sheds don’t pay tax on their rental income. If these 
are the sorts of people who exploit the desperate what other scams are they 
perpetrating I ask? Criminality is endemic in Southall.” 
He declined to issue an apology when a number of Southall residents complained 
because they were offended by the statements.

Findings: Cllr Dennehy failed to treat others with respect and brought the council into 
disrepute because the tone and much of the content was inappropriately and 
unnecessarily provocative, and the comments about Southall residents were in a 
different part of the blog from that which raised legitimate topics of political debate. 
The comments were not the expression of a political view, but a personal and generic 
attack on a section of the public. The subjects of the speech were not politicians but 
ordinary members of the public, so the comments did not attract the higher level of 
protection applicable to political expressions. Accordingly, sanctioning Cllr Dennehy 
was justified and proportionate under article 10 (2) of the convention.

Decision: The standards committee’s decision that Cllr Dennehy breached the code 
and should issue an appropriate apology was upheld.

Commentary: The use of social media has continued to raise issues throughout the 
country, and there is continuing debate on the extent to which these issues fall within 
the code of conduct. Guidance on this has been made available to councilors as part of 
the induction handbook following the May election. This case does provide an 
illustration of the need to consider very carefully what is said in electronic 
communications and how an appropriate level of caution needs to be balanced against 
the importance of freedom of political expression.

Page 23



Cllr John Copeland v West Lindsey DC Standards Committee (2012)
Freedom of expression and the code of conduct
Facts: Cllr Copeland was a parish councillor. He was found by the standards 
committee to have breached the parish council’s code of conduct by referring, in a 
number of emails, to a member of the public as a grumbler and a geriatric, which 
had failed to show respect to that person and had brought his office or authority into 
disrepute. Cllr Copeland’s appeal was successful.
Findings: it was not ‘necessary’ within the meaning of article 10(2) of the 
European convention on human rights to interfere with Cllr Copeland’s freedom of 
expression by sanctioning him for his comments. The unidentified individual had a 
remedy in defamation, if there was damage to his reputation, which was doubted. 
Proceedings before the standards committee were a ‘wholly disproportionate 
response’.

Decision:  The standards committee’s decision to censure was set aside.

Page 24



Appendix II:
Historical cases of interest dealt with by the Swale monitoring officer

Conduct of parish councilor in dealing with parish clerk (two complaints).
Action: Monitoring officer discussed with independent person and the complaint was 
referred for investigation.
Outcome: Two separate hearings were held. No breach of paragraph 8 of the relevant 
code of conduct, but breach of paragraphs 5, 7, 9, 10 and 11. Recommendations 
made to parish council that the subject member attend training on the role of the parish 
clerk and refresher training on role of chairman, and that the entire parish council 
undertake training on the role of the clerk and other matters including closed sessions 
and employment issues, policies and procedures. It was further recommended that any 
new parish clerk should attend appropriate training as part of their induction, and that a 
review of standing orders should be carried out to ensure that they incorporate the 
outcomes of any training. Following receipt of the report, the parish council wrote to 
say that whilst they would comply with the recommendations where possible they did 
not accept the report.

Parish councillor alleged not to have dealt with representations fairly, 
appropriately and impartially and not to have treated people with respect, 
including allegedly making racist remarks.

Action: Monitoring officer discussed with independent person and the complaint was 
referred for investigation.
Outcome: Hearing held. Breach of paragraphs 2, 8, 10 and 11.  Recommendations 
made to the parish council that the subject member should attend equalities training 
and be removed from all outside appointments until such training is undertaken, and 
that the entire parish council should attend equalities training and review its policies 
and procedures governing equalities and the conduct of meetings. Note that the 
subject member resigned from the parish council prior to the hearing and did not 
attend.

Page 25



Parish councillor alleged not to have dealt with representations fairly, 
appropriately and impartially, and not to have treated people with respect.
Action: Monitoring officer discussed with independent person and the complaint was 
referred for investigation.
Outcome: Hearing held. Breach of paragraphs 2, 10 and 11. The findings were 
reported to the parish council with a recommendation that the entire council undertake 
training on the code of conduct and adopt a more formal approach to meetings.

Borough councillor, having borrowed an officer’s unnumbered copy of a 
confidential paper, returned a numbered copy at the end of the meeting but 
failed to return the unnumbered copy, contrary to advice provided.

Action: Monitoring officer discussed with independent person and the complaint was 
referred for investigation.
Outcome: Hearing held. No breach of paragraph 5, but breach of paragraph 8 and the 
principle of leadership. Reported to full council with a recommendation to remove the 
subject member from scrutiny committee, as either a member or a substitute member, 
for a period of three months. This was agreed and implemented by council.

Borough councillor alleged to having sent a personal letter of an inappropriate 
nature to complainant, in addition to other allegations by other complainants.
Action: Monitoring officer discussed with independent person and the complaint was 
referred for investigation by a professional external investigator.
Outcome: Investigator concluded that on the balance of probability the subject 
member was not the author of the letter. Other conduct did not amount to a breach of 
the code of conduct, but diversity training was recommended and accepted by the 
subject member.

Page 26



1 Purpose of Report and Executive Summary

1.1 The annual report is submitted to the Standards Committee in accordance with the 
Member Training and Development Strategy.  The report provides an update on 
progress with Member Training and Development since November 2019, outlining 
actions taken by the Member Development Working Group to-date and their future 
work programme.  Due to the Covid pandemic, and other priorities, the Member 
Development Working Group meetings and subsequent training sessions have 
been limited.

2 Background

2.1 Member Training and Development 

2.1.1 The Council’s cross-party Member Development Working Group (MDWG) monitors 
and develops the Council’s Member Training and Development Programme.  The 
Working Group is supported by the Senior Democratic Services Officer and usually 
the Chief Executive, and met regularly up to the beginning of the Covid crisis in 
March 2020.  

2.1.2 The MDWG is made up of a member from each political party on the Council, who 
is encouraged to seek views from their respective members and feedback to the 
working group.  The Chairman of the MDWG for 2019/20 was Councillor Monique 
Bonney.  

2.1.3 Since the last annual report the Member Development Working Group's work 
programme has included: 

 Evaluating the training provided in 2019/2020
 Setting the 2019/20 Member Training Programme
 Continued discussions on training needs for newly-elected Members and re-

elected Members

Standards Committee Meeting
Meeting Date 17 November 2020

Report Title Annual Report on Member Training and Development 
2019/20

Portfolio Holder Leader

SMT Lead David Clifford, Monitoring Officer

Lead Officer Jo Millard, Senior Democratic Services Officer

Key Decision No

Classification Open

Recommendation 1. To consider and note the Annual Report on Member 
Training and Development 2019/20

Page 27

Agenda Item 5



2.2 Member Training Sessions and Attendance

2.2.1 A Member training programme is developed at the start of each civic year and 
reviewed during the year.  Ideas of future training sessions are sought from 
Members and Officers, and Members of the Member Development Working Group 
agree relevant topics. The MDWG regularly review the training programme to 
ensure it is deliverable and within budget.  It also strongly recommends that 
Members take up shadowing opportunities as a way to learn more about the 
services that the Council provides. Given the number of new members elected in 
May 2019, the training programme continued to focus on equipping new members 
for their various roles such as membership of the planning committee but 
unfortunately, due to the Covid pandemic, training sessions were suspended.  The 
MDWG are due to meet to at the end of November 2020 to set the training 
sessions for the rest of the municipal year once again.

2.2.4 The table below sets out Councillor training and briefing sessions which have been 
arranged through the Democratic Services Team since the last Annual Report in 
January 2020 to March 2020.  Parish Councillors are invited to planning briefings.  
Members will note that there whilst there were only 3 sessions, briefings covered a 
variety of topics. In response to Members’ feedback previously, sessions were held 
at varying times on various days of the week

2.3     Future Work 
2.3.1 The MDWG’s main focus over the coming months will be setting the schedule of 

training and briefing sessions for the rest of the municipal year.  The sessions will 
be held remotely and the first remote training session is scheduled to take place in 
November 2020. 

2.3.2 The MDWG are keen to increase the number and variety of learning opportunities 
available to Members, and will continue to share relevant training dates in the 
future with Maidstone and Tunbridge Wells Borough Councils.  Members will also 
continue to receive the opportunity to carry out to e-learning using the Elms 
Learning Programme.

3 Proposal

3.1 The Standards Committee is asked to review and comment on the annual report.

3.2 The Member Development Working Group is keen to reinforce the need for 
Members to understand their statutory responsibilities; such as Health and Safety, 

Title of Training/Briefing 
session

Date

Community Safety (including the 
Police)

4.2.20

Faversham Bridge briefing 19.2.20
Affordable Housing through the 
Planning System

3.3.20

Page 28



Equality and Diversity, Safeguarding and GDPR. These sessions will be covered 
within the training programme and information is also available on the Elms 
Learning programme.  It is recognised that some Members may receive relevant 
training through their paid or voluntary work, or their involvement in other 
organisations.  However past sessions have often shown that attendance figures at 
sessions related to statutory duties are often lower than average and the report 
therefore welcomes the Standards Committee’s support and the support of Group 
Leaders in promoting the importance of these sessions to Councillors.  

4 Alternative Options

4.1 N/A

5 Consultation Undertaken or Proposed

5.1 The report is submitted on behalf of the Member Development Working Group, 
who have approved the content and recommendations. 

6 Implications

Issue Implications
Corporate Plan Members need to be equipped with the skills and knowledge to 

help deliver the Council’s priorities and to effectively represent 
their ward constituents.

Financial, Resource 
and Property

Provision of £10,000 is made within the budget for Member 
Training and Development for 2020/21.

Legal and Statutory Local authorities are complicated organisations that are heavily
regulated and must act lawfully when discharging their 
functions. They can only act where there is a legal power or 
duty and decisions taken by them must comply with 
administrative law principles. Members are often required to 
take complex decisions or to follow prescribed procedures and 
they can be challenged by individuals or organisations who 
disagree with decisions taken.

Knowledge of the relevant legal frameworks is vital to support 
them in their roles as community leaders, advocates and policy 
makers. It also protects the Council from the costs and bad 
publicity that is likely to result from legal challenges.

Members of the Planning and Licensing Committees sit in a 
quasi-judicial capacity and training is therefore a mandatory 
requirement.  All Members should be fully aware of their 
statutory duties and the requirement to have sufficient 
knowledge on these matters to properly exercise their 
responsibilities in-line with legislation.

Crime and Disorder None specific to this report.

Page 29



Sustainability None specific to this report.

Health and Wellbeing None specific to this report.

Risk Management & 
Health and Safety

None specific to this report.

Equality & Diversity Each individual Member will have differing backgrounds, and a 
differing range of knowledge and experience that they bring to 
the role of Councillor.  Members as Community Leaders have a 
role to help identify equality and diversity barriers that prevent 
the Council from building more cohesive communities.  Specific 
equality and diversity training, which included unconscious bias, 
has been rolled out to members.

7 Appendices

7.1 None

8 Background Papers

8.1      None

Page 30


	Agenda
	4 Annual Monitoring Officer Report
	5 Annual Report on Member Training and Development 2019/20

